
 

1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MINUTES OF THE BENTON COUNTY ELECTION COMMISSION 
 

June 1, 2011 
 
 
Commission members present:  E. J. Miller, Chairman, Mike Sevak, Secretary, Bill Williams, Member 
 
Others present:  Tena O’Brien, County Clerk, County Attorney George Spence, Christine Southard, Robbyn Tumey, 
Gwen Millager, Dana Ferguson, Sharon Rose, and Chris Nogy 
 
Media:  Tom Sissom, Benton County Daily Record 
 
Chairman E. J. Miller called the June 1, 2011 Election Commission meeting to order at 9:03 a.m. and welcomed everyone. 
 
Minutes: 
Chairman E. J. Miller made a motion that the minutes from the April 15, 2011 meeting be approved as submitted, motion 
duly seconded and carried by voice vote.  Chairman Miller stated that he recalled from the April 15, 2011 meeting that 
Robbyn Tumey had concerns about the G&A costs and had stated “that it would disenfranchise a number of voters” but 
that statement was not reflected in the minutes.  County Clerk Tena O’Brien responded that statement was not on the tape.  
Chairman Miller stated that the reason it might not have been on the tape was because Robbyn did not come to the 
microphone.  Commissioner Williams stated that he remembers Ms. Tumey making that comment.  Chairman Miller 
asked if anyone in the public wanted to make a comment, and if so they must come to the microphone. 
 
County Clerk Tena O’Brien reported that the 2010 Minutes listed on the agenda were never approved by the commission.  
Chairman Miller stated that those minutes had been reviewed many times and at least two commissioners in the past had 
stated that they were dissatisfied with the contents, and therefore they were not approved.  Commissioner Williams made 
a motion that those past minutes be filed without approval, seconded by Chairman Miller. 
 
Motion to file the unapproved minutes from 2010, passed by unanimous vote.   
 
Committee Reports: 
Robbyn Tumey reported that her redistricting committee went to the NW Arkansas Regional Planning office in May and 
that the committee will not meet again until a preliminary map on the Congressional Representative Districts has been 
established and that they will work backwards from there.  Commissioner Williams stated that his understanding was that 
the staff working under the Clerk was going to prepare the maps and review the proposal with the committee on which 
Ms. Tumey serves.  Commissioner Williams asked Ms. Tumey if she was unsatisfied with the Clerk’s Office.   Robbyn 
responded that this is the way it was done in the past.  Commissioner Williams stated that the proposal in the minutes was 
that the Clerk’s Office was to draw the maps and for Ms. Tumey’s committee to be doing the same thing the Clerk’s 
Office is, is a useless duplication of effort.  Ms. Tumey stated her understanding of the assignment was that they work to 
help draw the lines.  Commissioner Williams agreed but there was nothing in the plan to go to NW Arkansas Regional 
Planning.   Ms. Tumey asked Commissioner Williams if going to the NW Arkansas Regional Planning is a problem.  
Commissioner Williams responded yes, because it is a duplication of efforts.  He stated that Dana Ferguson in the Clerk’s 
office has the knowledge, material, and means to draw the maps.  Ms. Tumey stated she did not want to argue and her 
understanding was that Jim McCarthy had done it this way in the past.  She stated Mr. McCarthy suggested they go down 
to the NW Arkansas Regional Planning office and that is what the committee did.  Commissioner Williams again 
expressed to Ms. Tumey that she and the committee failed to look at the plan the way it was laid out, and how it was to be 
done. 
 



 

2 
 

 
 
 
 
Commissioner Williams stated that this was to be done with the clerk’s office, who has all the details of polling places, 
precincts, and all the other information of this county, and that the NW Arkansas Regional Planning office has no or little 
of this knowledge.  Chairman Miller called an end to the discussion. 
 
Chairman Miller called on Dana Ferguson to make a presentation.  Deputy County Clerk Dana Ferguson showed a map of 
the current JP Districts with the current Census population figures.  She also showed a draft map reflecting 15 JP Districts 
with an ideal population of 14,756.  Chairman Miller asked if it was possible to get an 8 ½ X 11 copy of the current JP 
District map.  Dana Ferguson responded that is possible, but there would be no details just outlines.  County Clerk Tena 
O’Brien reported that her office had received a proposed senate and house map from State Representative Les Carnine.  
Commissioner Williams asked if several drafts would be able to be made.  Dana Ferguson responded that could be done, 
but she would not be able to go forward until final lines were drawn.  Commissioner Williams asked what the population 
deviation was of the current draft.  Dana stated that as far as population, one district in Bella Vista is low due to removing 
Pea Ridge and following the current Highway 71 boundary.  Commissioner Williams asked if it was fair to say, that when 
the final data on legislative districts is received, the commission could work to make decisions on whether to make a (+ or 
–) 5% in those districts.  Dana stated that there is an area that is farmland and needs approximately 700 more people, other 
than that, she is within 3%.  Commissioner Williams stated that one of the guidelines is that the commissioners could 
support a deviation of population of (+ or -) 5%.  They could go beyond that, but it has to be clear that there is no political 
purpose. 
 
County Clerk Tena O’Brien asked Chairman Miller if Christine Southard could comment on the redistricting that was 
done in 2000.  Christine reported that the County Clerk’s Office did the 2000 redistricting for the JP Districts and 
precincts and that NW Arkansas Regional Planning did the school districts zones and redrew the wards for some of the 
cities.  She stated the County Clerk’s Office is very capable of doing the redistricting and that was part of the reason the 
ArcView software was purchased because in 2000, all of the maps were drawn by hand.  She stated that there is a lot of 
work that goes into redistricting in that you need to know the population, where people vote, the different districts, and 
where you can avoid splits.  She stated that she feels the County Clerk’s Office should be involved in the process and that 
she wanted to make it clear that NW Arkansas Regional Planning did some of it in 2000, but it was for the cities and 
schools, not the JP districts or precincts.   
 
Chairman Miller asked Dana Ferguson if there were splits in the proposed 15 JP Districts, as far as the schools are 
concerned.  Dana responded that there were a few splits in Rogers and Bentonville due to the large population but that 
Decatur, Gentry and the smaller ones are contained in one district.  Chairman Miller stated that makes a difference when 
trying to prepare ballots. 
 
Public Comments: 
Gwen Millager stated she was concerned about the upcoming school election.  She asked for more public information to 
be made available.  She stated that when one calls the school it is not a satisfactory experience and also to find maps on 
boundaries is difficult.  She asked in the school election, if prior boundaries will be used.  Chairman Miller stated prior 
boundaries will be used.  Dana Fergurson stated that Gentry has filed their district maps and they will be voting on those 
new zones this year, but the other school districts will vote in the same zones this year.  Commissioner Williams told Mrs. 
Millager that maps are available in the clerk’s office.  Mrs. Millager asked if it was the Election Commissions role to let 
the public know the time-lines on filing for elections, rules to be a candidate, or what is required to qualify for a school 
board seat.  Commissioner Williams responded that the Election Commission advertises an election, but the commission 
does not have the personnel or funding resources to do the proper job on the information.  He continued by stating that 
there is an argument that the school districts should do that.  Ms. Millager stated that she hopes citizens would be 
encouraged to vote and care what is going on in the schools.  Christine Southhard stated that the Benton County Clerk’s 
Office does the advertisement of filing information for candidates and candidates can obtain a “Running for Public 
Office” handbook from the clerk’s office.  She added that this information will also be available on the website.   
 
 



 

3 
 

 
 
 
 
Old Business: 
None 
 
New Business: 
Commissioner Williams stated that he received an Attorney General’s opinion concerning questions he had regarding the 
Election Commission.  He stated that according to Opinion No. 2011-034 the commission has no authority to remove its 
chairman.  Commissioner Williams apologized to Chairman Miller and the commission for making the resolution to 
remove him from the chairmanship.  Also, Commissioner Williams commented that an executive session to discuss the 
chairman’s appointment is allowed by this opinion and to discuss any commissioner’s performance and that the chair’s  
Term of office is also set by this opinion for two (2) years.  Commissioner Williams stated the commission needs to 
determine when and how the chairman is chosen, and make that a policy of the commission. Commissioner Williams 
stated that the removal of Chairman Miller and himself was done inappropriately by the Democratic County Committee 
and they will have to fire them again.  Commissioners Williams stated that the questions had been carefully researched 
and thought out.  He stated no action can be taken since the letter was received by him on Tuesday, May 31, 2011 and 
Chairman Miller received his copy Wednesday, June 1, 2011.  Commissioner Williams recommended that the chair give 
the commissioners’ time to offer resolutions and support for what it reveals and have another meeting to discuss this 
opinion and the actions that need to be taken.  Chairman Miller agreed and suggested to have this put on the agenda to be 
discussed at a later meeting.  Commissioner Williams suggested that a temporary chairman could serve for a short time, as 
a probation period, to see if he/she performs the way the other commissioners expect.  Chairman Miller asked County 
Attorney George Spence to review the opinion and give his advice.  County Attorney George Spence stated that he would. 
 

(A) Report Regarding Election Costs – George Spence:  County Attorney Spence commented on the memorandum he 
wrote dated May 24, 2011 with attachments.  He reported that he has looked at the election costs and what had 
been charged, and that he has an opinion on future billing.  He stated that has concluded with Comptroller Richard 
McComas and County Clerk Tena O’Brien that the Election Commission should follow the procedural manual 
issued by the State.  County Attorney Spence stated that he feels there would be a legal basis to do other than that, 
but feels the procedural manual is a certain and tried method, and considering the last few months regarding the 
commission, he thinks that would be the best way to reassure the public and give them confidence on what the 
commission is doing.  County Attorney George Spence stated that he thinks it is admirable for the Election 
Commission to have tried to recover election costs in the past from the various entities, but because of the 
situation in the past with the Election Commission and the County to pursue costs, the commission should seek 
legislation changes or lobby the State Board of Election Commissioners to change their procedural manual. He 
reported that the attachment to the memorandum is a revised schedule prepared by Christine Southard and that the 
spreadsheet shows the G&A costs billed in 2010, the portion paid, the portion not paid, and by who .  He stated 
that there is also an attachment for the special election held for Avoca, Garfield and Gateway.  He reported that 
there is $30,000 in G&A expenses that have been paid and that there is a joint recommendation between Richard 
McComas, Tena O’Brien, and himself that the money should be refunded.  He reported that this refund would 
settle the outstanding bill with Siloam Springs, which has already been approved by the commission, and 
NWACC less the G&A costs.  Chairman Miller stated Siloam Springs was voted on in the April 15, 2011 Election 
Commission meeting and that County Attorney Spence was asked to intercede on the commission’s behalf by 
sending a letter to Siloam Springs accepting their negotiated amount with the removal of the G&A costs.  
Chairman Miller asked Commissioner Mike Sevak for an update on the NWACC billing.  Commissioner Sevak 
stated that he spoke with Jim Hall and Mr. Gates and that they discussed not doing anything at this time until 
there was direction from County Attorney George Spence. Commissioner Sevak stated that NWACC wants to get 
this situation behind them.  Chairman Miller asked Commissioner Sevak if he had a recommendation.  
Commissioner Sevak recommended NWACC pay their bill less the $10,000 G&A costs.  Commissioner Sevak 
made a motion to settle the billing with NWACC for $4,323.95, seconded by Chairman Miller.  There being no 
other discussion, Chairman Miller asked for a vote on the motion.  2 yeas:  (Miller, Sevak)   1 abstain:  (Williams) 
 
 Motion to accept the billing of $4,323.95 for NWACC, passed.                                                       



 

4 
 

              
 
 
                                                          

Chairman Miller asked Attorney George Spence to write NWACC a letter like the one for the City of Siloam 
Springs.  Chairman Miller stated he believes that the Election Commission was acting on good belief and good 
faith, and that he thought the $10,000 G&A costs had been ran through County Attorney Spence’s office and that 
the commission was on good legal ground.  Commissioner Williams agreed with Chairman Miller.  Chairman 
Miller continued by stating that Commissioner Sevak had indicated that a breakdown should have been given to 
the cities and if there had been a breakdown of the expenses presented at the time to the entities who wanted to 
have an election, they would have been aware of the costs involved.  Chairman Miller stated he believes the costs 
and preparation for an election takes at least five (5) election commission meetings.  He explained that this entails 
going over documentation from the entity, preparing the ballots, making sure the lines are correct, proof reading, 
and feels these meetings are justified.  Chairman Miller recommended the commission approve the committee’s  
memorandum and henceforth not bill the $10,000 G&A costs until these costs have been researched further.  
Commissioner Williams made a motion to follow the recommendations of this committee and pursue other means 
to recover the necessary reimbursement for the county, seconded by Commissioner Sevak.  Commissioner 
Williams added the suggestion that the commission work through the State Board of Election Commissioners has 
additional merit.  He reported that the Arkansas County Election Commission (ACEC) recently had its Executive 
Director Susan Inman appointed to a position on the state board.  He stated that Susan Inman represents the 
position of the County Election Commissions and that she will be a helpful and thoughtful voice on the State 
Board of Election Commissioners in helping us receive compensation.  Chairman Miller agreed.  There being no 
other discussion, Chairman Miller asked for a vote on the motion.  3 yeas:  Miller, Williams, Sevak. 

 
 Motion to follow recommendations of the committee, passed. 

                      
Chairman Miller stated that when the commissioners set-up the G&A expense, he and Commissioner Williams 
went before the Committee of 13 and the Quorum Court and proposed the $10,000 figure as a basis for the 
addition of a staff assistant for the Election Commission.  He stated if the $10,000 G&A expenses are going to be 
eliminated; the commissioners may need to reconsider the staff assistant position.  Commissioner Williams talked 
about the motivation for the G&A costs and that several people in County Government had been concerned that 
the people in the incorporated areas of the county, who are in need of county services are terribly under 
represented on the Quorum Court and their interests are often not met.  He stated that by trying to move the 
expense of elections from the county general coffers to the treasuries of the requesting entities, we do a better job 
of putting the costs where the costs are originated.  The school districts, cities or any of the entities that requires 
an election, a suggestion has been made by those that value their own opinions more than the fact, that it was an 
increase in taxation or would diminish the need for elections.  Commissioners Williams stated that he believes 
this to be wrong headed and requires reconsideration, as there is no increase to the taxpayers, but puts the costs 
where they belong.  The idea that the taxpayers would pay more is incorrect.  Commissioner Williams stated he 
was quoted by someone in the public comments; saying of him, that this would be a profit center for the county is 
ridiculous.  A statement like that would never have been made, because anyone who reads the state statues would 
understand it could not be a profit center for the county or a break even arrangement, since the county pays for 
half of the General Election.  Commissioner Williams stated that he still believes that the G&A costs are 
appropriate, but the mechanism used did not work well, and the commissioners need to go back and do it again.   
 
Chairman Miller commented regarding the Garfield, Gateway and Avoca special election.  He stated that in the 
Primary Election, there were approximately 270 ballot faces and that he tried to talk to a former JP about not 
having this election on the same day as the Primary.  Chairman Miller stated he was involved in a similar election 
with the Beaver Lake Fire Department, which was a special election and was done on a 4 x 6 sheet of paper and 
hand counted and at that time, the Beaver Lake Fire Department was billed $4,000 by the Election Commission.  
The Garfield, Gateway and Avoca elections took 27 ballot faces which was 1% of the ballot faces necessary for 
that Primary.  Chairman Miller stated that he stands firm in that the costs that they were originally billed, was an 
under cost. 
 



 

5 
 

 
 
 
 Chairman Miller asked Christine Southard the bottom line on the Garfield, Gateway and Avoca spreadsheet.  
Christine stated that according to the notes in the file and at the time of the General Election, Garfield and 
Gateway had a credit with the Election Commission. She explained that this occurred because when they were 
billed for the special election and they disputed the cost, the Election Commission gave them a credit on the G&A 
costs and on the poll workers according to the bills in the file prepared by Helen Peltier.  Christine reported that 
Avoca paid the reduced $300 G&A expense and if the G&A is going to be reimbursed, then Avoca is due $300 of 
the $500.  Chairman Miller asked Christine where the $500 credit comes from.  Christine explained that the 
original billing was for $2,013.94 and that after the election Avoca was re-billed in the amount of $1,521.44. She 
explained that the $500 was taken off to show it was re-billed and the $300 for G&A was paid.  The General 
Election was the same, starting with an original bill and then a revised bill.  The total amount to be reimbursed to 
Avoca is $313.68:  she stated that for the General Election the G&A is based on the division between all the cities 
and the formula is a certain percentage required by state statue.  Chairman Miller said the commission needs to 
cut a clean slate and asked Commissioner Williams his thoughts.  Commissioner Williams stated that the 
commission has accepted the recommendation of the committee and part of the acceptance is to refund 
approximately $31,000 and if one entity receives a credit, then all entities should receive a credit.  Commissioner 
Williams made a motion to refund the G&A costs and any credits to the appropriate entities, seconded by 
Commissioner Sevak.  Chairman Miller called for a vote.  3 yeas:  Miller, Williams, Sevak.   
 
Motion to refund G&A costs and any credits due entities, passed. 
 

(B)  Discussion of Refunds for G&A Billings:  Chairman Miller asked County Clerk Tena O’Brien if she had any 
comments.  County Clerk Tena O’Brien reported that these monies will be taken out of the County Treasury.  
Attorney George Spence stated that he has had discussions with Richard McComas and since the refund has been 
authorized by the commissioners, nothing else needs to be done.  He stated that Richard McComas will handle 
the reimbursements through the proper accounting procedures.  

 
(C) Discussion of G&A Billing for NWACC:  Discussed in Section “A”. 

 
Other Business:   
Attorney George Spence asked if tapes from previous meetings were preserved.  Tena O’Brien stated that she did not 
know, and asked Sharon Rose about the tapes.  Sharon Rose reported that some of the recordings were still on the recorder 
and that she would check and report back at the next meeting. 
 
Announcements: 
Commissioner Williams commented on his attire and public image.  
 
Chairman Miller announced that the next meeting will be held on June 22, 2011 at 9 AM. 
 
Adjournment: 
Chairman Miller adjourned the meeting at 10:03AM. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 Mike Sevak, Secretary 
 
 
Prepared by Sharon Rose, Election Commission Staff 
 


